## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By\_\_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

GUY GAMBLE, ) Appellant, ) vs. ) STATE OF FLORIDA, ) Appellee. )

CASE NO. 82,334

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL S. BECKER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar No. 0267082 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Fla. 32114 (904)252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

# FILED

MAY 9 1994

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 2, 1992, the grand jury in and for Lake County, Florida, returned its indictment charging Appellant, Guy Gamble, and the co-defendant, Michael Love, with one count of conspiracy to commit armed robbery in violation of Sections 777.04(3) and 812.13(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1991), one count of armed robbery in violation of Section 812.13(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1991), and one count of murder in the first degree in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1991). (R8-Appellant filed numerous pretrial motions directed towards 9) the preclusion of certain evidence going before the jury and numerous motions attacking the constitutionality of the death penalty statute. (R102-103,104-106,114-135,136-139,140-144,145-153, 154-160, 161-178, 179-180, 181-183, 191, 192-199, 220, 221-222, 223-224, 225-229, 230-236, 237-239, 240-288, 289-292, 293-296, 297-299, 300-303, 304-323, 324-327, 328-329, 330-331, 332-333, 335-338, 339-340) On June 16th, 1993, a hearing was held on the majority of these

motions and rulings made. (R1870-2004) Appellant proceeded to jury trial on the charges on June 21 through 25, 1993, with the Honorable G. Richard Singeltary, Circuit Judge, presiding. (T1-1463) Following deliberations, the jury returned verdicts finding Appellant guilty as charged on all three counts. (T1462-1463; R437-439)

The penalty phase of Appellant's trial commenced June 28, 1993. (T1522-1869) Following deliberations, the jury returned an advisory recommendation by a vote of ten to two that Appellant be sentenced to death. (T1859; R462) Appellant filed a timely motion for new trial on July 2, 1993. (R466) Both the state and the defense presented memoranda in support of the appropriate penalty to be imposed. (R477-482,483-505) On August 10, 1993, Appellant again appeared before Judge Singeltary for sentencing. (T2005-2103) Judge Singeltary denied Appellant's motion for new trial. (T2086) Judge Singeltary imposed the death penalty for the murder conviction and sentenced Appellant to consecutive life imprisonment for the robbery conviction and a consecutive fifteen years in prison for the conspiracy conviction. (T2082; R541-553) Judge Singeltary filed a written order setting forth his reasoning for imposition of the death penalty. (R524-530)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on September 2, 1993. (R573) Appellant was adjudged insolvent and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent him on appeal. (R556-557,596)

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

## GUILT PHASE

Guy Gamble and Stacey Ash met in Indiana and started dating in June, 1991. (T975) In October, 1991, Appellant and Ash came to Florida. (T976) Arriving in Eustis, Florida, Appellant and Ash eventually moved in with Michael Love and Donna Yenger in an apartment they rented from Helmut Kuehl. (T757-758,976-977) Both Love and Appellant worked at Winn Dixie as part of the stock crew. (T758,898) During the time that they lived together, Love would purchase crack cocaine which they would all four use on a regular basis. (T760-762) This drug habit became quite expensive and Love had outstanding drug bills of \$90.00 in addition to the \$30.00 he had borrowed from Kuehl. (T806) Eventually, Appellant and Love decided that they needed money and planned to rob Kuehl. (T1206-1208) At some point, Appellant told Ash that he planned to "take out" Kuehl which Ash believed meant that he would kill him. (T980) However, Appellant stated that this meant only that they were going to tie up Kuehl and put him in a closet so that they could get away with the robbery. (T1283)

On Monday evening, December 9, 1991, Appellant told Stacey to pack their things because they were going to be leaving the next day. (T982) Appellant talked about going to Las Vegas or California. (T983) During that evening, Appellant was observed with a cord in his hand playing cat's cradle. (T985, 764) Appellant asked Ash to sit at the table and pretend to

write out a receipt and as she did he snuck up behind her and put a rope around her neck. (T986-988) Later while Ash was in the bathroom, Appellant again came up from behind and put the rope around her neck. (T989)

On Tuesday morning about 8:30 a.m., Appellant and Love went to Winn-Dixie to get their final paychecks. (T766,991,1213) When they returned, Kuehl was sitting outside the garage smoking (T1214) Appellant and Love went into their apartment a pipe. but then left again in about five minutes. (T766,993,1214) Love asked Appellant for some money to use to get Kuehl on the subject of rent. (T1215) When they got to the garage, Love asked Kuehl for a receipt for the rent. (T1215) Kuehl went up to his apartment, which was upstairs, to get some paper. (T1215,769, 994) While they waited for Kuehl to return, Love searched around for a weapon and picked up a claw hammer and set it on the (T1215) Love told Appellant that when Kuehl returned counter. Appellant should hit him with the hammer. (T1215-1216) After Appellant hit him, Love told Appellant "I'll do the rest." (T1216,1285) When Kuehl returned to the garage, Love had him come over to a table so that he could write out the receipt. (T1287) At Love's urging, Appellant picked up the hammer and hit Kuehl in the head from behind. (T1217,1287-1288) When Appellant hit him, Kuehl let out a loud moan and fell to the ground. (T771,995,1217,1289) Appellant got down on top of Kuehl to hold him down and told Love to shut the garage doors. (T1217,1290-1291) Love came over and picked up the hammer and started

hitting Kuehl repeatedly in the head with it. (T1217-1218,1291-1292) Finally, Appellant told Love to stop while Kuehl was still alive and to just tie him up. (T1218,1294) Appellant then gave the curtain cord to Love who proceeded to wrap it around Kuehl's (T1218-1219,1296-1299) Appellant told Love that there throat. was no reason to choke Kuehl since he was already unconscious and urged him to just leave him. (T1219,1240,1299) Love gave Appellant the hammer and rope and told him to dispose of them. (T1241,1299) Appellant wrapped the items in newspaper and left them on the floor. (T1299,1241) Love picked up another hammer and again hit the victim. (T1241) Love then went through Kuehl's pockets taking his wallet and his car keys. (T1299) Love cursed as he looked in Kuehl's wallet and found no money. (T1300) Appellant left the garage to return to his apartment leaving Love to close up the garage. (T1242) When Appellant returned to his apartment, he had blood on his hands and immediately went into the bathroom to wash them. (T773,997-998, 1242) As Appellant was finishing washing his hands, Love came in the apartment and since he also had blood on his hands he washed up in the kitchen. (T773-774,998-999,1242) Appellant and Love packed the car and they left. (T774,999-1002) As they drove away, Appellant started to look through Kuehl's wallet. (T777, Appellant found between \$200.00 and \$300.00 in cash and a 1003) blank check in the wallet. (T778,1004) Appellant also found a bank statement in the glove box which revealed that Kuehl had over \$10,000.00 in his bank account. (T778,1004) When Appellant

Ż

discovered the statement, he wanted to return to Kuehl's apartment and look for more valuables but Love stated, "You never return to the scene of the crime." (T779,1006) Because Appellant had a fake I.D. in the name of Carlos Spriggs, it was decided that they would forge the check and then cash it. (T781-782,1006) They stopped at a Kentucky Fried Chicken to write out the check after which Love drove to a Barnett Bank. (T783,1010) Appellant went into the bank and was able to cash the check for \$8,544.00. (T783,819-823,1010,1223) When Appellant returned to the car, he was guite excited and passed the money around for everyone to hold. (T784,1010) Love /then continued driving until they got to Gulfport, Mississippi where they stopped and rented rooms at a Holiday Inn. (T785,853,1011,1228) Appellant gave each person \$100.00 to go to Wal-Mart to purchase clothing. (T786,1012) They then stopped at a liquor store, bought some liquor and returned to the hotel. (T1012,1013) Appellant and Love went to the lounge while the girls remained in the room. (T789,1013) Appellant and Love went to purchase some crack cocaine after which they returned to the hotel and all four individuals smoked it. (T789,1013-1014,1228-1229) Appellant decided that evening that he would leave the rest of the group and checked out the bus schedules but found he could not catch a bus until the next morning. (T1232-1234) The next morning, Appellant got up and told Stacey that he was going to buy some cigarettes. (T1015,1234) After nearly an hour and a half passed, Love, Yenger, and Ash realized that Appellant was not

going to return. (T789-790,1015) Although Appellant stated that he only took about \$700.00 and left the rest of the money in a dresser drawer, the other individuals never found any money. (T790,1015,1311) Love, Yenger and Ash took the clothes they had bought the previous evening back to Wal-Mart and got a refund. (T790,1017) The three of them then left Gulfport in Kuehl's car. (T790-791,1017) Stacey Ash parted company with Love and Yenger at a truck stop. (T791,1017) Before she left, Love told Ash that if she told the authorities he would come back and find her which Ash interpreted as a threat. (T1019)

Ash was able to obtain a ride to her home in Indiana. (T1020) On December 16, 1991, Ash went to the police in Indiana and talked to them about the incident. (T1021) She also gave the police Appellant's fake I.D. which he had left in Mississippi. (T1023)

Yenger and Love continued driving to Sioux Falls, South Dakota. (T791) On the evening of December 12, 1991, at approximately 11:30 p.m., Officer Jerome James of the Sioux Falls Police Department observed a vehicle traveling on the street with no headlights or taillights so he stopped the vehicle. (T624-627) When Officer James noticed an odor of intoxicants on the driver, he placed the driver in his police vehicle and ran a warrants check. (T627) The driver identified himself as Michael Love. (T628) When the dispatcher was unable to confirm whether there were any warrants, Officer James gave Love a warning ticket for driving with no headlights or taillights, told Love to park

the vehicle and to walk over to a nearby hotel where he could sleep off his drunk. (T629) When Officer James told Love he was giving him a break, Love assured him that he would not drive (T632) Officer James returned to the police station and, again. after approximately twenty to thirty minutes, returned to check on the car and again observed it traveling north without any headlights or taillights. (T634) Officer James again stopped the car which was being driven by Love and told Love he was issuing a citation to him for reckless driving. (T634) As Officer James waited for a warrants check, Love told him that there may be an outstanding warrant for burglary but that he had actually straightened it out with the State Attorney's Office. (T635-636) The warrants check revealed an outstanding warrant and Love was arrested. (T636) Later the car which was driven by Love was determined to be stolen. (T637)

Officer Harry Doremus of the Eustis Police Department received a teletype from the Sioux Falls Police Department at approximately 3:00 a.m. on the morning of December 13, 1991. (T646-647) Officer Doremus was instructed to go to 119 South Grove Street and to meet with Helmut Kuehl concerning a vehicle registered to him which had been seized in Sioux Falls, South Dakota. (T647) Officer Doremus knocked on the door and got a response from Brian Mahoney who lived in the downstairs apartment. (T648) Officer Doremus explained to Mahoney that he needed to contact Helmut Kuehl and Mahoney showed him access to Kuehl's apartment through his apartment. (T649) Officer Doremus

entered Kuehl's apartment and found everything to be in order but that Kuehl was not there. (T649) Officer Doremus observed a note on the table to Kuehl from a Jackie Mayberry stating that she was concerned and that he should call her immediately. (T650) Officer Doremus then checked the back shed area but found that both doors were locked. (T650) He also checked the downstairs rear apartment which appeared vacant. (T651) Officer Doremus took an address book from Kuehl's apartment and later contacted Kuehl's daughter to see if she knew where he was located. (T652) Later that morning, Officer Doremus returned to Kuehl's residence and again checked the shed area. (T654-655) When he looked in a window in the rear, Doremus observed two legs from the knees down. (T655) Doremus then used a crowbar to break the hasp on the door and went inside where he discovered the body of Helmut Kuehl. (T655)

Dr. Janet Pillow, a forensic pathologist, conducted an autopsy on the body of Helmut Kuehl. (T699-706) She observed multiple lacerations to the right side of the head, a thin abrasion or scratch running across the neck from behind the right ear and a gaping wound about one centimeter deep into the tissue on Kuehl's neck. (T705-706) There were a total of nine wounds to the right side of Kuehl's head. (T707) There was one large wound in the center which went all the way through to Kuehl's scalp. (T708) There were also skull fractures underneath the wound and brain tissue coming out of it. (T708) Kuehl also had a small laceration in the area of his left eyebrow which was

consistent with having falling onto the concrete. (T709) Dr. Pillow's opinion was that since there was very little bleeding around the neck wound, that it must have been inflicted either near death or after death. (T710-711) The cause of death was blunt head injury due to multiple blows to the head with a neck injury as a contributing factor. (T714) Any one of the blows to the head could have resulted in the victim losing consciousness at which point Kuehl would have felt no pain. (T723) Any one of the wounds could have killed Kuehl and Dr. Pillow testified that death probably occurred within minutes. (T724-726)

Sandra Thompson, a maid at the Holiday Inn in Gulfport, Mississippi, testified that on the afternoon of December 11, 1991, she was cleaning Rooms 228 and 230 and found two bags of  $\cdot$ clothing which apparently the occupants had left. (T836-838) She dated the bags and turned them over to housekeeping where they would be kept for ninety days in the event that someone requested their return. (T839-845) Officer Luanne O'Bannon of the Hairston County Sheriff's Department in Mississippi, pursuant to a request from the Eustis Police Department, went to the Holiday Inn in Gulfport and received two bags of clothing from the manager. (T851,860) After photographing the clothing, Officer O'Bannon shipped them to Eustis. (T869) When the clothes were received by the Eustis Police Department, Detective Hubbard forwarded them to the F.D.L.E. lab in Orlando for (T922) Detective David Hubbard of the Eustis Police testing. Department obtained blood samples from both Appellant and Michael

Love and sent these to the lab for DNA analysis. (T1059) He also obtained handwriting samples from both Appellant and Michael Love which he sent to the crime lab along with the check written on Helmut Kuehl's account for \$8,544.00. (T1059-1061) When the canceled check was examined, it was determined that the face details of the check had been written by Michael Love. (T1144) The signature of Helmut Kuehl was simulated. (T1144) The analyst was unable to determine who wrote the Carlos Spriggs endorsement on the back of the check since the handwriting was different from the known samples of Michael Love, Appellant and Helmut Kuehl. (T1145)

Nancy Rathman, a forensic serologist with the F.D.L.E., testified that she examined tissue from Helmut Kuehl and did a DNA profile on it. (T1163) She then examined numerous items which had been sent to her including clothing and determined that the blood stains that she was able to type matched the blood profile of Helmut Kuehl. (T1164-1188) Additionally, the latent print examiner testified that he found three latent prints on the canceled check which matched Michael Love's fingerprints.

#### (T1135)

## PENALTY PHASE

Appellant's parents separated when he was 1½ years old. (T1606,1701) While he was growing up, Appellant bounced around from place to place and never had a stable home. (T1607-1610, 1632,1714) Appellant's mother was very strict with him and would punish him by spanking him and hitting him in the head. (T1659,

1677,1716) Appellant's father suffered from drug and alcohol addiction which often prevented him from exercising visitation with Appellant. (T1606) His father was not involved in Appellant's school activities. (T1607)

Once when Appellant was approximately six years of age, and during a company picnic, his half brother saw him lying under a beer truck catching beer that was dripping out. (T1650) Even at that early age, Appellant was drunk and everyone was laughing at him. (T1651) Appellant started drinking and abusing alcohol and drugs at approximately thirteen years of age. (T1608,1621) Appellant's mother used marijuana extensively and always had it in the house. (T1717-1725) Appellant used to steal her marijuana and diet pills. (T1704) After Appellant turned eighteen, Appellant's mother smoked marijuana with him. (T1717)As he was growing up, Appellant never felt like he was wanted. (T1623) Appellant and Lucinda Smethers were together for approximately three years during which time they had a baby together. (T1733) During this time, Smethers knew Appellant was using alcohol, cocaine, marijuana and crack cocaine. (T1733) Smethers is certain, however, that Appellant loves his daughter. (T1735)

While Appellant was incarcerated for the instant offense, Virginia Chapell, a nurse at the Lake County Jail, was summoned to his cell. (T1641-1642) Chapell encountered Appellant sitting on a table with his knees pulled up and his head between his knees. He was crying and his body was shaking

uncontrollably. (T1643) Appellant indicated to Chapell that he was contemplating suicide. (T1644) He expressed feelings of self-destruction and also told Chapell that he heard voices including that of the victim who was telling Appellant that he would have to pay for what he did. (T1644-1646) Since Appellant was already on medication, Chapell contacted the psychiatrist and got approval to increase the dosage. (T1644) Dr. Lowell Cunningham testified that he saw Appellant while he was in the Lake County Jail and observed significant depressive symptoms. (T1668) Dr. Cunningham prescribed anti-depressants for Appellant in an attempt to elevate his mood and to assist him in sleeping. (T1668) Dr. Cunningham felt that Appellant was suffering from clinical depression and also prescribed a tranquilizer for him. (T1669) Dr. Cunningham felt that Appellant was exhibiting schizo-affect disorder which prevented him from thinking clearly. (T1670)

While Appellant was growing up, there were two instances when he was sexually abused by male babysitters. (T1684-1685) Because of his father's drug problem, Appellant never really had a strong father figure in his life. (T1659) When his mother remarried, Appellant resented his stepfather and eventually the problems between the two caused Appellant to move out. (T1660,1681,1705)

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

<u>Point I</u>: The trial court erred in finding that the murder of Helmut Kuehl was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. The evidence showed only that this was a planned robbery that got out of hand.

<u>Point II</u>: Appellant's death sentence must be vacated because it is disproportionate to other cases. The presence of the single aggravating factor of pecuniary gain is insufficient to support a death sentence particularly in light of the substantial amount of mitigation present.

<u>Point III</u>: Appellant's death sentence must be vacated because the trial court's denial of Appellant's special requested jury instructions in the penalty phase rendered the jury recommendation invalid.

<u>Point IV</u>: Florida's death penalty statute is unconsitutional.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

IN VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 17 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, THE TRIAL COURT IMPOSED THE DEATH PENALTY UPON AN ERRONEOUS FINDING THAT THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED MANNER.

In sentencing Appellant to death, Judge Singeltary determined that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. In support of this finding, the court stated:

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