# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE AUG 111994

FILED

CLERK, SURREME COURT By \_\_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

GUY GAMBLE,

Appellant,

v.

Ļ

T

ە.

CASE NO: 82,334

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DAN HAUN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #694370 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

###

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

- 8 -

While Mr. Kuehl, the victim was in the house, Gamble and Love prepared for his return. Gamble testified that Love placed the hammer in an available position. Regardless of whether Love placed the hammer there or not, Gamble is the one who picked it up and hit the victim in the head. According to Appellant's initial brief Gamble hit Mr. Kuehl at least three times. (IB 19). Gamble exhibited the "heightened" premeditation necessary to find this aggravating circumstance. Furthermore, this court in <u>Vining</u> held the finding of the aggravating circumstance harmless.

Appellant attacks the jury instruction. Appellee agrees that the instruction given was not in accordance with the standards later enunciated in Jackson v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S215 (Fla. April 21, 1994). Appellant argues that at the charge conference Gamble objected that there was insufficient evidence of the heightened premeditation required for the application of the aggravating circumstance. Appellee submits that this issue was not properly preserved below. James v. State, 615 So. 2d 668 (Fla. 1993). The objection was to the sufficiency of evidence, not directed to the instruction given. A claim is not preserved unless the specific legal argument was previously presented to the trial court. Bertolotti v. Dugger, 514 So. 2d 1095 (Fla. 1987); Roberts v. State, 568 So. 2d 1255 (Fla. 1990).

Appellant argues that if the issue was not properly preserved below, then Gamble is entitled to a new penalty phase. Appellant contends that his attorney cannot be expected to object

- 9 -

because raising the issue was an exercise in futility. Appellee submits that as in every phase of a capital murder trial, counsel is expected to object and preserve the record concerning issues risible on appeal. Appellant's counsel objected to the lack of sufficient evidence to give the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating circumstance perhaps he had no problem with the instruction because he certainly objected to other instructions.

Appellant also argues that in subsequent 3.850 proceedings that counsel will be found ineffective for failing to object to the standard instruction. This argument is not ripe. The proper time to decide that issue is when the 3.850 proceeding takes place. Alternatively, appellee would submit that counsel was not ineffective for failing to look into the future and see this court's decision in <u>Jackson</u>. Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to anticipate a change in the law and objecting, thereby preserving the record for appellate review. <u>Stevens v. State</u>, 552 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1989).

Even if this aggravating circumstance were stricken, the result would be the same. <u>See</u>, <u>Clemons v. Mississippi</u>, 110 S.Ct. 1441 (1990); <u>Holton v. State</u>, 573 So. 2d 284 (Fla. 1991); <u>Young <u>v. State</u>, 16 F.L.W. S192 (Fla. Feb. 28, 1991); <u>Reed v. State</u>, 560 So. 2d 203 (Fla. 1990); <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 561 So. 2d 536 (Fla. 1990); <u>Hardwick v. State</u>, 521 So. 2d 1071 (Fla. 1988); <u>Jackson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 530 So. 2d 269 (Fla. 1988); <u>Mitchell v. State</u>, 527 So. 2d 179 (Fla. 1988); <u>Smith v. State</u>, 515 So. 2d 182 (Fla. 1987); <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 545 So. 2d 846 (Fla. 1989); <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987).</u>

- 10 -

# II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SENTENCED APPELLANT.

Gamble contends that the death penalty cannot stand since it is disproportionate to the crime and constitutes cruel and unusual punishment. Gamble argues that this case is not the "most aggravated" nor "unmitigated". The trial court found two aggravating factors and little mitigation.

Appellee does not concede that this court will not find committed in a cold, calculated and that this murder was Evidence exists to find this point as premeditated fashion. enumerated in point one of this brief. However, even if this were the case, death may be the appropriate penalty if at least one statutory aggravating factor is established. Dougan v. State, 595 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1992). As Gamble recognizes, this court has affirmed death sentences where only one aggravating circumstance has been found. Although many of the cases cited by Gamble involve the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating factor, this does not mean that a death sentence cannot be upheld where the single aggravating factor is pecuniary gain. This court has affirmed the death sentence under express proportionality review where the defendant has been convicted of a prior "similar violent offense". Lemon v. State, 456 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 1984) (death sentence "is not comparatively disproportionate for stabbing death of girlfriend where defendant had prior conviction for assault with intent to commit first degree murder for stabbing another female victim); King v. State, 436 So. 2d 50 (Fla. 1983) (death penalty affirmed as

comparable where defendant had prior manslaughter conviction for axe-slaying of woman victim). See also, Harvard v. State, 414 So. 2d 1032 (Fla. 1982). Similarly, this court has affirmed a death sentence in cases where the only aggravator in addition to prior violent felony is during the course of a felony. See, Hamblen v. State, 527 So. 2d 800 (Fla. 1988); Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987); Jackson v. State, 502 So. 2d 409 (Fla. 1986).

The cases where this court has affirmed the death sentence where only one aggravating factor was present also demonstrate that Gamble's sentence is proportionate. These cases involved the shooting of a friend, a crime of passion in a marital setting, a man shooting his former female companion's husband, and the rape and murder of a child. In Arango v. State, 411 So. 2d 172 (Fla. 1982), the victim was beaten and shot in the head in his bedroom. The sole aggravating factor was heinous, atrocious or cruel, and the mitigation was no prior criminal history. This court stated the death penalty does not contemplate a tabulation of aggravating and mitigating factors to arrive at a sum, but places upon the trial judge the task of weighing all of these Gardner v. State, 313 So. 2d 676 (Fla. 1975), an factors. override case, involved a "crime of passion in a marital setting in which the excessive use of alcohol was a material factor resulting in the homicide." Id. at 679 (Ervin, J., dissenting). The sole aggravating factor was heinous, atrocious or cruel, and the trial court found no mitigation, but, as the dissent noted, mitigation existed. Justice Ervin stated that in his opinion, a

"drunken spree" does not warrant the death penalty, but if there had been a calculated design and premeditation to rid one of his spouse, death would be warranted. In <u>Douglas v. State</u>, 328 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1976), another override case, this court affirmed the death sentence solely on the basis on one aggravating factor (heinous, atrocious or cruel), where the victim was the husband of the defendant's former companion. In <u>LeDuc v. State</u>, 365 So. 2d 149 (Fla. 1978), the defendant raped and murdered a young girl, and while a substantial amount of mental mitigation was proffered, the death sentence was affirmed on the basis of one aggravating factor and nothing in mitigation.

This court has stated that the purpose of considering aggravating and mitigating circumstances is to engage in a character analysis of the defendant, <u>Elledge v. State</u>, 346 So. 2d 998 (Fla. 1977). <u>See, e.g., Demps v. State</u>, 395 So. 2d 501 (Fla. 1981) (nothing prohibits trial judge from taking into consideration the quality of aggravating circumstances).

Appellant argues that this case is not "the sort of unmitigated case contemplated by this court in <u>Dixon</u>." The trial court found one statutory mitigating factor and that was appellant's age, which was given some weight. The trial court lumped together the neglect and abuse suffered by Gamble as a child, and gave substantial weight to this factor. The trial court gave substantial weight to Gamble's emotional problems. However, the rest of the nonstatutory factors were either given some or little weight. The evidence in mitigation does not outweigh the aggravating factors.

- 13 -

relied upon by Gamble for reversal The on cases proportionality grounds are readily distinguishable. In Fitzpatrick, supra, the record was replete with evidence of substantially impaired capacity, extreme emotional disturbance, and low emotional age. The defendant had an emotional age between nine and twelve years, had extensive brain damage, had been described as "crazy as a loon", and his actions were those of a "seriously disturbed man-child" Id. at 810-11. None of those factors are present in the instant case. In Livingston, supra, this court found that the mitigating factors of severe childhood beatings; youth, inexperience, and immaturity; minimal intellectual functioning as a result of the beatings; and extensive use of cocaine and marijuana, outweighed the remaining aggravating factors of prior violent felony and during the course of a robbery. In Penn v. State, 574 So. 2d 1079 (Fla. 1991), the defendant had no significant history of prior criminal activity, and was also acting under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. In Songer v. State, 544 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 1989), the defendant's reasoning abilities were substantially impaired by addiction to hard drugs, his remorse was genuine, and he had exhibited a positive change while in prison.

Appellant argues that because his codefendant, Love, was given a plea bargain with a life sentence after the penalty phase in his own trial, the jury would have given Gamble a life sentence as well. Appellee disagrees with this reasoning. The trial court was aware of Love's life sentence, in fact, he considered it as a nonstatutory factor. However, it did not

- 14 -

cause the trial court to give Gamble a life sentence. It is pure speculation on Gamble's part to state that the jury would have given a life sentence. The jury was well aware that Gamble struck the first blows to Mr. Kuehl's head. They heard testimony that Gamble was practicing sneaking up behind his girlfriend and applying the cord to her neck. Finally, Gamble was the one with blood all over his clothes.

As stated, the procedure to be followed by the jury and judge is not a mere counting process of aggravating and mitigating circumstances, but rather a reasoned judgment as to what factual situations require the imposition of death and which can be satisfied by life imprisonment in light of the totality of the circumstances presented. Dixon, supra. On review of a death sentence, this court's role is not to cast aside the careful deliberations of the jury and judge, unless there has been a material departure by either of them from their proper prescribed functions, or unless it appears that, in view of other decisions concerning imposition of the death penalty, that punishment is Hargrave v. State, 366 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1978). The too great. jury weighed the two aggravating factors against the proffered mitigation and by a vote of ten to two recommended the death penalty, and that recommendation is entitled to great weight. Grossman v. State, 525 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1988). The trial court likewise weighed the evidence, and determined, in accordance with jury's recommendation, that death was the appropriate the penalty. Death is not too great a punishment in this case. Gamble killed Mr. Kuehl for no other reason than to steal his car to head out west and steal any money or other valuables he had.

- 15 -

# III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY.

Appellant argues that the trial court did not properly instruct the jury. He argues that specially requested jury instructions should have been given. Appellant contends that the trial court committed reversible error in denying Proposed Instruction Numbers 9, 11B, 14, special instruction regarding nonstatutory mitigation, and a special instruction regarding mental impairment.

Appellant argues that the standard instructions did not clearly tell the jury that even if an aggravating circumstance were proven beyond a reasonable doubt, that they were still entitled to recommend life imprisonment. Appellee submits that the law in Florida provides that when even one aggravating circumstance is found and no mitigating circumstances are found, that the appropriate sentence is death. State v. Dixon, 283 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973) Furthermore, the standard jury instructions to be sufficient. have been determined by this court Alternatively, appellee would submit the instruction read to this jury, "If you find the aggravating circumstances do not justify the death penalty, your advisory sentence should be one of life imprisonment without possibility of parole for twenty five years" allows the jury the option of finding an aggravating circumstance and recommending a life sentence.

Appellant argues that while the jury was told what constitutes an aggravating circumstance they never were adequately informed as to what a mitigating circumstance was and

- 16 -

how they were to consider the evidence in mitigation. The standard jury instruction on weighing of aggravating and mitigating factors has been held sufficient by this court. <u>Stewart v. State</u>, 549 So. 2d 171 (Fla. 1989); <u>Arango v. State</u>, 411 So. 2d 172 (Fla. 1982).

Finally, Appellant argues that the standard instructions did not inform the jury that they could still find mental impairment in mitigation even if they did not conclude that such The standard jury instruction on impairment was extreme. nonstatutory mitigating circumstances was given in this case. The jury was instructed that they could consider "any other aspect of the Defendant's character, background or record and any other circumstance of the offense." (P 1851). No special proposed instruction on "mental mitigation" was required. This court has previously determined that a court is not required to list the nonstatutory mitigating circumstances in its instructions to the jury. Jackson v. State, 530 So. 2d 269 (Fla. 1988); Robinson v. State, 574 So. 2d 108 (Fla. 1991). The jury was hardly precluded from considering valid mitigation. Defense counsel was allowed to mention nonstatutory mitigating factors in his closing argument.

Any error in the court's instructions is harmless since the result of the sentencing hearing would have been the same had the jury been instructed as appellant now contends it should have been. <u>See</u>, <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 574 So. 2d 1075 (Fla. 1991).

- 17 -

# IV. SECTION 921.141, FLORIDA STATUTES IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

Appellant objects to the amalgamation of these various and sundry points gathered into one boilerplate "issue", with no cites to the record to show if they were even preserved. However, appellant will address them in the manner listed.

### Felony Murder.

Neither the circumstance or the instruction was challenged below and this issue is waived. The language of this circumstance could not be more precise, in any event.

# Majority Verdicts.

No argument on the grounds now raised was made below. This issue is barred. A simple majority recommendation is sufficient to recommend the death penalty. <u>Brown v. State</u>, 565 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 1990).

# Aggravating Factors as Elements of Crime found by Majority of Jury.

This issue was never argued and is procedurally barred. The argument that aggravating factors are elements of the crime is without merit. See, Hildwin v. State, 490 U.S. 638 (1989).

# Advisory Role of Jury.

This claim was not argued below and is barred. It is without merit in any event. The jury was instructed that "your recommendation as to what sentence should be imposed on this defendant is entitled by law to be given great weight by this court in determining what sentence to impose in this case. It is only under rare circumstances that I could impose a sentence other than what you recommend. I assure you that I will give your recommendation the great weight to which it is entitled," in accordance with <u>Tedder v. State</u>, 322 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1975).

# Counsel.

The appellant has failed to show in this case that appointed counsel were in any manner deficient in their representation. Specifically, since the public defender's office handled the trial.

Trial Judge.

This claim was never argued below and is barred. This judge was aware of the <u>Tedder</u> standard and acted in accordance with it. Any error is harmless.

### The Florida Judicial System.

This claim was never argued below and is procedurally barred. The notion that justice should be suspended for Gamble until there is parity in the election of judges is ludicrous in any event. He has no entitlement to any particular judge. Society is hardly benefitted when a condemned murderer is utilized as a vehicle for social change.

Aggravating Circumstances.

<u>CCP</u>.

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